NEGOTIATION

Max H. Bazerman¹, Jared R. Curhan², Don A. Moore³, and Kathleen L. Valley⁴

¹Kellogg Graduate School of Management, Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois 60208; e-mail: mbazerman@hbs.edu

Massachusetts 02163; e-mail: curhan@psych.stanford.edu,

Kellogg Graduate School of Management, Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois 60208; e-mail: dmoore@nwu.edu

⁴Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts 02163; e-mail: kvalley@hbs.edu

Key Words bargaining, mental models, ethics, culture, communications media, multiparty negotiation

■ **Abstract** The first part of this paper traces a short history of the psychological study of negotiation. Although negotiation was an active research topic within social psychology in the 1960s and 1970s, in the 1980s, the behavioral decision perspective dominated. The 1990s has witnessed a rebirth of social factors in the psychological study of negotiation, including social relationships, egocentrism, motivated illusions, and emotion. The second part of this paper reviews five emerging research areas, each of which provides useful insight into how negotiators subjectively understand the negotiation: (a) mental models in negotiation; (b) how concerns of ethics, fairness, and values define the rules of the game being played; (c) how the selection of a communication medium impacts the way the game is played; (d) how cross-cultural issues in perception and behavior affect the negotiation game; and (e) how negotiators organize and simplify their understandings of the negotiation game when more than two actors are involved.

CONTENTS

Introduction	280
A short History of the Psychological Study of Negotiation	280
The Early Social Psychology of Negotiations	280
The Behavioral Decision Perspective on Negotiations	282
The Rebirth of the Social Psychology of Negotiations	283
A Psychological Definition of the Negotiation Game	286
Mental Models in Negotiation	287
Ethics and Sacredness in Negotiation	291
Choosing a Medium of Communication	293

²Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University, Boston,

³Department of Psychology, Stanford University, Stanford, California 94305;

Cross-Cultural Issues in Negotiation	296
Negotiation with More than Two Players	300
Conclusion	302

INTRODUCTION

The past 25 years have seen dramatic shifts in the psychological study of negotiation. The study of negotiation was an active field within the domain of social psychology in the 1960s and 1970s, but the cognitive revolution in the late 1970s left little room for interpersonal processes, leaving the study of negotiation to decline. By the early 1980s, negotiations blossomed anew as perhaps the fastest growing area of teaching and research in schools of management. Much of this growth was based on psychological research, specifically a behavioral decision-making perspective. The 1980s and 1990s have witnessed an explosion of research on the negotiator as decision maker. But the late 1990s brought many calls to reintroduce the social aspects of the negotiation process—with an explicit criticism of the behavioral decision paradigm of negotiation as overly restrictive. In this paper, we review these developments and also explore an emergent body of work integrating cognitive and social aspects of negotiation. This new work examines the negotiation as it is perceived and constructed by the negotiators themselves.

We organize this paper around two sections. In the first section, we provide a selective history of the development of the psychological study of negotiation. This history briefly explores the demise of the early social psychology of negotiations, overviews the behavioral decision perspective of negotiation, and explores recent efforts to create a new social psychology of negotiations. In the second section, we explore emerging trends that broaden the study of negotiation and connect negotiations to a broader spectrum of psychological literatures. Specifically, this section focuses on research that, rather than assuming negotiators respond to an objectively specified game structure, explores how negotiators psychologically understand the negotiation game they are playing.

A SHORT HISTORY OF THE PSYCHOLOGICAL STUDY OF NEGOTIATION

The Early Social Psychology of Negotiations

Negotiation was the subject of hundreds of empirical papers by social psychologists in the 1960s and 1970s (Rubin & Brown 1975). During this time, the study of negotiations in social psychology primarily focused on two subdomains: individual differences of negotiators and situational characteristics. In the sections

that follow, we discuss the general conclusions arising out of these areas of research. As the field of social psychology moved toward research on social cognition, negotiation, like many interpersonal topics, drifted from the forefront of social psychology.

Individual differences Rubin & Brown (1975) documented the extensive literature on individual differences in negotiation, including both demographic characteristics and personality variables. Despite hundreds of investigations, these factors typically do not explain much variance in negotiator behavior (Thompson 1998), just as they fail to account for much variance in other behaviors (Ross & Nisbett 1991). When individual differences do influence negotiated outcomes, slight changes in situational features swamp these effects (Ross & Nisbett 1991, Thompson 1998). Although true believers in individual differences still exist (Barry & Friedman 1998), many authors have reached the conclusion that simple individual differences offer limited potential for predicting negotiation outcomes (Lewicki et al 1993, Pruitt & Carnevale 1993). Furthermore, individual differences are of limited use because they are not under the negotiator's control (Bazerman & Carroll 1987). Finally, ample evidence shows that even experts are poor at making clinical assessments about another person's personality in order to accurately formulate an opposing strategy (Morris et al 1999, 1995).

Structural variables Social psychological research on negotiation in the 1960s and 1970s also explored a series of situational/structural variables. These are the variables that define the context of the negotiation. Examples of situational variables include the presence of constituencies (Druckman 1967), parties' incentives and payoffs (Axelrod & May 1968), power (Marwell et al 1969), deadlines (Pruitt & Drews 1969), the number of people on each side (Marwell & Schmitt 1972), and the presence of third parties (Pruitt & Johnson 1972). Although research on situational variables has contributed to our understanding of negotiation, the objective features of a negotiation are often beyond the control of an individual negotiator. Recent research has turned its attention to how negotiators perceive and construct the negotiation problem, which is more (although certainly not fully) under the control of the negotiator. Unfortunately, the older social psychological study of negotiation did not explore the creation or construal of the negotiation structure but tended to offer data on the impact of objective alternative structures. As a result, the effects were typically consistent with naïve intuition.

Overall, the dominant social psychological approaches suffered from critical shortcomings and were of limited use for enhancing the effectiveness of negotiation scholarship or practice. As we will argue, the problem was not inherent in the psychological perspective; the problem was with the specific analytic lens chosen, which relied on description without clear standards of rationality or optimality against which behavior could be evaluated.

The Behavioral Decision Perspective on Negotiations

The cognitive revolution in psychology strongly influenced research in negotiation. The research moved in the direction of behavioral decision research (BDR) in the 1980s and 1990s. Greater interaction between descriptive and prescriptive researchers facilitated research on this decision perspective (Bazerman & Neale 1992). Prescriptive research on negotiations prior to 1982 focused primarily on game theory, the mathematical analysis of fully rational negotiators. Raiffa's (1982) focus on providing the best advice to a focal negotiator was a key turning point in negotiation research. First, from a prescriptive perspective, Raiffa explicitly acknowledged the importance of developing accurate descriptions of opponents rather than assuming the opponent negotiator to be fully rational. Second, the notion of using negotiation analysis to give advice implicitly acknowledged that negotiators themselves do not intuitively follow purely rational strategies. Most important, from the perspective of psychology, Raiffa initiated the groundwork for dialog between prescriptive and descriptive researchers, creating a prescriptive need to descriptively understand how negotiators actually make decisions. Following Raiffa's structure, Bazerman and Neale (1992) outlined a psychological understanding of negotiation designed to use description to prescribe strategies that would help the focal negotiator increase the likelihood that the parties would grow a larger pie, while simultaneously giving the focal negotiator the needed understanding to maximize how much of the pie they obtained, subject to concerns for fairness and the ongoing relationship.

The 1980s and 1990s witnessed a large number of studies that address the questions Raiffa's work left unexamined (Bazerman 1998, Neale & Bazerman 1991, Thompson 1990, 1998). This line of work uses the field of BDR as a core for ideas about how negotiators actually make decisions. The field of BDR delineates the systematic ways in which decision makers deviate from optimality or rationality (Dawes 1998, Kahneman & Tverksy 1973, 1979). Individuals are presumed to attempt to act rationally but to be bounded in their ability to achieve rationality (Simon 1957). This field has allowed researchers to predict, a priori, how people will make decisions that are inconsistent, inefficient, and based on normatively irrelevant information. To document the biases that lead negotiators to deviate from optimally rational behavior is not to deny the amazing feats of which the human mind is capable (Pinker 1997). We navigate complex social worlds with amazing dexterity and solve enormously complex problems with breathtaking ease, but we are not perfect. Human cognition suffers from a variety of predictable mistakes, and it is precisely these mistakes that give us insight into the functioning of the mind (Kahneman & Tversky 1982).

The core argument of much of BDR is that people rely on simplifying strategies, or cognitive heuristics (Bazerman 1998). Although these heuristics are typically useful shortcuts, they also lead to predictable mistakes (Tversky & Kahneman 1974). It is the systematic and predictable nature of these biases, and what they reveal about the human mind, that makes them so intriguing to researchers.

Specifically, research on two-party negotiations suggests that negotiators tend to (a) be more concessionary to a positively framed specification of the negotiation than to a negatively framed specification (Bazerman et al 1985, Bottom & Studt 1993, De Dreu & McCusker 1997, Lim & Carnevale 1995, Olekalns 1997); (b) be inappropriately affected by anchors in negotiation (Kahneman 1992, Kristensen & Garling 1997, Northcraft & Neale 1987, Ritov 1996, Thompson 1995, Whyte & Sebenius 1997); (c) be inappropriately affected by readily available information (Neale 1984, Pinkley et al 1995); (d) be overconfident and overly optimistic about the likelihood of attaining outcomes that favor themselves (Bazerman et al 1999, Bazerman & Neale 1982, Kramer et al 1993, Lim 1997); (e) falsely assume that the negotiation pie is fixed and miss opportunities for mutually beneficial trade-offs between the parties (Bazerman et al 1985, Fukuno & Ohbuchi 1997, Thompson & DeHarpport 1994, Thompson & Hastie 1990); (f) falsely assume that their preferences on issues are incompatible with those of their opponent (Thompson & Hrebec 1996); (g) escalate conflict even when a rational analysis would dictate a change in strategy (Bazerman 1998, Bazerman & Neale 1983, Bizman & Hoffman 1993, Diekmann et al 1999, 1996, Keltner & Robinson 1993); (h) ignore the perspective of other parties (Bazerman & Carroll 1987, Carroll et al 1988, Samuelson & Bazerman 1985, Valley et al 1998); and (i) reactively devalue any concession made by the opponent (Curhan et al 1998, Ross & Stillinger 1991).

Behavioral decision theory perspective largely reframed psychological research on negotiation in the 1980s and early 1990s. This behavioral research departed from previous psychological research on negotiation, as it emphasized how actual decisions were different from what would be predicted by normative models. Clearly, a goal to provide useful information that could lead to the debiasing of negotiators guided this research. As we move forward, our goal is to outline a future for negotiation research that keeps this strength, yet allows for a broader understanding of the psychological task of negotiation.

The Rebirth of the Social Psychology of Negotiation

The behavioral decision perspective had a significant influence on the scholarship and practice of negotiation. However, many authors criticized this perspective for ignoring too many factors that were obviously important in negotiation (Greenhalgh & Chapman 1995). Recent research adds social psychological variables consistent with a BDR perspective. In this research, the social factors argued to be missing from earlier research on decision making have become specific topics of study. However, this new social psychology of negotiations accepts some of the features of the BDR perspective, including the backdrop of rationality (Murnighan 1994, Thompson 1998). This section highlights four sets of questions, building off of the review by Bazerman et al (2000).

Social relationships in negotiation The importance of relationships in negotiation has been noted throughout the field's history (e.g. Follett 1940, Rubin &

Brown 1975, Walton & McKersie 1965). However, this topic has reemerged strongly in the 1990s (for reviews see Greenhalgh & Chapman 1998, Valley et al 1995). The study of relationships and negotiation can be trichotomized into three basic levels: the individual, the dyad, and the network.

The first level includes studies of how judgment and preferences of individual negotiators are influenced by social context (for review see Clark & Chrisman 1994). An example of this work is a study by Loewenstein et al (1989), which found that disputants' reported preferences for monetary payoffs were greatly influenced by payoffs to and relationships with their hypothetical counterparts.

The second level examines how social relationships within dyads can influence negotiation processes and outcomes (for review see Valley et al 1995). Bazerman et al (1998a) demonstrated that certain behaviors that appear irrational from the individual perspective may be rational from the perspective of the dyad. For example, given the opportunity to communicate freely, negotiators often appear irrational in their individual decision making yet reach dyadic outcomes that outperform game theoretic models (Valley et al 1998).

Finally, the third level is concerned with the influence of relationships on the broader network of actors (Baker 1984, 1990; Shah & Jehn 1993; Sondak & Bazerman 1989; Valley 1992). As an example of this third category, Tenbrunsel et al (1996) examined the implications of relationships on the selection of a negotiation partner. Essentially, they argued that people "satisfice" (March & Simon 1958) by matching with other people they already know rather than seeking out new partners (Tenbrunsel et al 1996), at the cost of finding better-fitting matches.

Egocentrism in negotiation Negotiators' fairness judgments are not purely objective. Rather, parties tend to overweight the views that favor themselves—resulting in a motivational bias (Babcock & Loewenstein 1997, Diekmann et al 1997, Walster et al 1978) in addition to the cognitively based biases reviewed earlier. This motivational bias is called egocentrism. Thompson & Loewenstein (1992) found negotiators to be egocentric, and the more egocentric the parties were, the more difficulty they had coming to agreement. This pattern has been replicated both in studies that used financial incentives for performance and across negotiation contexts (Babcock et al 1995, Camerer & Loewenstein 1993, Loewenstein et al 1993). Furthermore, Thompson & Loewenstein (1992) found that the provision of more (neutral) information increases egocentrism. Those participants who received this additional neutral information tended to make more extreme estimates of a fair outcome. Participants also showed self-serving recall bias, remembering better those facts that favored themselves.

A large amount of research has gone into explaining this egocentric pattern of behavior. We are most persuaded by the view of Messick & Sentis (1983) that preferences are basic and immediate, but fairness judgments must be determined through reflection, a process that is vulnerable to bias. As ambiguity creates uncertainty around what a fair outcome would be, negotiators tend to interpret fairness

in ways that favor themselves (Babcock & Olson 1992, Camerer & Loewenstein 1993, De Dreu 1996, Diekmann 1997, Diekmann et al 1997, Messick & Sentis 1979). Experimental manipulations that reduce potential ambiguity also reduce egocentrism. For example, when players occupy symmetric roles, egocentrism is weaker than when their roles are asymmetric (Wade-Benzoni et al 1996). Communication between the players that allows them to form a shared understanding of the situation also reduces egocentrism (Thompson & Loewenstein 1992, Wade-Benzoni et al 1996).

Motivated illusions in negotiation Most people view themselves, the world, and the future in a considerably more positive light than reality can sustain (Taylor 1989, Taylor & Brown 1988). People tend to perceive themselves as being better than others on desirable attributes (Gabriel et al 1994, Messick et al 1985, Svenson 1981) and have unrealistically positive self-evaluations (Brown 1986). In the negotiations domain, Kramer et al (1993) found that in a negotiation class taken by candidates for masters in business administration, 68% of the students predicted that their bargaining outcomes would fall in the upper 25% percent of the class.

In part, negotiators' optimism may be traceable to overestimation of their ability to control uncontrollable events (Crocker 1982, Kramer 1994, Miller & Ross 1975). Negotiators in a prisoner's dilemma act as if their decision will control the simultaneous decision of the other party, even when that is logically impossible (Morris et al 1998, Shafir & Tversky 1992). This research argues that one reason parties cooperate in one-shot prisoner dilemma games is the illusion that their own cooperation will create cooperation in the other party. Other evidence points to the social costs of positive illusions. Unsuccessful negotiators tend to denigrate their more successful counterparts by attributing their success to uncooperative and unethical bargaining tactics (Kramer 1994). Positive illusions, especially when accompanied by egocentrism and vilification of opponents, are likely to increase the costs of conflict by inhibiting integrative gains and by delaying agreement (De Dreu et al 1995b).

Emotion and negotiation Although the laboratory-based cognitive approach that dominated negotiation research in the 1980s and 1990s has ignored most emotion-relevant variables, some research has explored the important role of emotion in negotiation. This research finds that positive moods tend to increase negotiators' tendencies to select a cooperative strategy (Forgas 1998) and enhance their ability to find integrative gains (Carnevale & Isen 1986). Angry negotiators are less accurate in judging the interests of opponent negotiators and achieve lower joint gains (Allred et al 1997). Anger makes negotiators more self-centered in their preferences (Loewenstein et al 1989) and increases the likelihood that they will reject profitable offers in ultimatum games (Pillutla & Murnighan 1996).

In these experiments, fairly mild manipulations created moderately strong effects. Nevertheless, the nature of emotion manipulations that are ethically pos-

sible in the lab may be sufficiently "cold" (Janis 1982) that they are qualitatively different from the "hot" emotions that lead people to find the role of emotion in negotiation so compelling. The hotter emotions create strong internal conflicts in people, and tell us emotions are important in negotiation. These are more likely to create a divide between what people think they should do (cognitive) and what they want to do (emotional) (Bazerman et al 1998b), leading to self-destructive choices (O'Connor et al 1998). Nevertheless, some authors see a functional role for emotions (Keltner & Kring 1999), and some have pointed to the potential strategic use of emotion (Barry 1999, Thompson et al 1999).

In sum, the behavioral decision perspective has been enriched by renewed attention to social factors. More important, because this recent research relies on a backdrop of rational optimality for assessing decisions, it can be useful in offering advice to actual negotiators. It gives the negotiator useful hints about the likely behavior of opponents and suggests ways in which the individual's own decisions may be biased.

A PSYCHOLOGICAL DEFINITION OF THE NEGOTIATION GAME

We believe that the research just reviewed provides an excellent base for the future development of the psychological study of negotiation. The rationality backdrop to this research is key. This creates the opportunity for a useful dialogue with economic perspectives. It is also crucial in creating a psychological field that is capable of providing advice to negotiators. Yet, as the contemporary social psychological critiques suggest, the behavioral decision perspective became narrow in order to develop these strengths. Although the recent exploration of social factors has broadened the field, we see even further broadening by thinking about how to help negotiators become more rational in order to better obtain what they value in the negotiation process.

An important emerging feature of research on negotiation is the study of how players define and create the negotiation game—both psychologically and structurally. Interdependence theory explored the ways in which social actors transform the given matrix of outcomes into an effective matrix by their own personal interpretations, relationship-specific motives, and social norms (Kelley & Thibaut 1978, Rusbult & Van Lange 1996). More recently, Brandenburger & Nalebuff (1996) changed the focus of game theory by arguing that how competitors define the game may be more important than the moves they make within the game. In the present section, we explore this perspective through the lens of psychology, suggesting that how parties understand the game is a critical determinant of how they play the game. To give rational advice, we need to understand the actual preferences and mental models of negotiators, rather than simply inferring that they accept the utility structure that an experimentalist provides. Understanding

how negotiators differentially define the game may be key to better understanding why parties do not reach agreements when we think they should.

At first appearance, this focus on the definition of the game would seem to be a throwback to the structural research of the 1960s and 1970s earlier criticized. However, the new focus is on how negotiators define and create the game, rather than on how structural features of the game predict negotiators' behavior. We argue that negotiators' mental models (Gentner & Stevens 1983) are central to understanding how the negotiation game is defined. We then examine how other critical factors determine the definition. Specifically, we explore how concerns of ethics, fairness, and values define the rules of the game; how the selection of a communication medium impacts the play of the game; how cross-cultural issues in perception and behavior affect the game; and how negotiators organize and simplify their understandings of the game when more than two actors are involved.

Mental Models in Negotiation

Much of the work on negotiation assumes that the structure of a negotiation is exogenous to the parties and that the cognition and affect of the parties is exogenous to the structure. But work on mental models of negotiation suggests that the parties' perceptions of the negotiation structure are critical and endogenous to the negotiation and that, similarly, the cognition and affect of the parties are critical and endogenous to the negotiation.

The concept of mental models is related to some other psychological constructs. Although we recognize the substantial overlap, both within the literature and within our definitions, we see the construct of mental models differing from frames, scripts, and schemata in its expansiveness and its reliance on both social and cognitive processes (Gentner & Stevens 1983; L Thompson, D Gentner & J Loewenstein, unpublished data). This paper defines a mental model as a cognitive representation of the expected negotiation, a representation that encompasses understanding of the self, negotiator relationships, attributions about the other, and perceptions and knowledge of the bargaining structure and process. Mental models can be studied as individually held cognitive concepts or as shared definitions that develop interactively. We use this distinction between individually and mutually shared models to organize the literature. Although the authors were not studying mental models per se in much of the research discussed below, we extrapolate from their findings to explore the role of mental models in negotiations.

Individually held mental models In an integrative task, Thompson & Hastie (1990) directly measured individual negotiators' perceptions of the negotiation structure. They asked their respondents whether the structure of the situation allowed for integrative trade-offs and found that the majority assumed their interests were strictly opposed to those of the other party. This assumption was held

across all the various issues, even those for which the two parties had identical, compatible interests (see Thompson & Hrebec 1996). Thompson & Hastie (1990) provided evidence that individuals who modified their initial perceptions, or mental model, did so immediately at the onset of the interaction; otherwise the fixed-pie assumption tended to persist throughout the negotiation. They showed that fixed-pie biases result in a largely predictable outcome that fails to capture gains from integration.

In a creative examination of how the individually held definition of the situation affects processes and outcomes of negotiations, Larrick & Blount (1997) addressed the question of why cooperation levels differ between ultimatum games and two-person social dilemmas that are identical in their objective structures. Larrick & Blount (1997) found that when the interaction is framed as a social dilemma, the second party accepts substantially lower payoffs than when the interaction is framed as an ultimatum game. Through a series of studies, they show that the critical difference is whether the second party is given the role of "claimer" or "acceptor or rejector." Apparently, when the subjects perceive themselves to be claimers, they do not perceive their roles as including the right to reject the first party's proposal. Rejection is not included as an appropriate behavior in the rules prescribed by their mental model.

Investigators (see Ross & Ward 1995) crossed individual reputations (cooperative/competitive) with the definition, or more precisely the name, of the game ("community game"/"Wall Street game"). All participants played the same seven-round prisoner's dilemma game. The effects of the construal manipulation were dramatic. The manipulation affected play throughout the seven rounds, with nearly twice as much cooperation in the community game as in the Wall Street game. In contrast, individual dispositions showed virtually no effect, despite the fact that three steps were taken to maximize their impact: (a) The dispositional predictions were based on evaluations by people who knew the subjects well; (b) only those judged to be extreme cooperators or competitors were used as subjects; and (c) all dyads were composed of subjects with the same extreme disposition. Simply changing the name of the game changed the mental models the parties brought to the situation, and with it their definitions of what was acceptable or appropriate behavior.

Loewenstein et al (1999) address the question of creating an appropriate mental model for a new situation, based on analogical reasoning. Past research has shown that when trying to understand a situation, people often attend to information that has surface, rather than structural, similarity to the situation in which they are engaged (Gentner & Markman 1997, Gentner et al 1993). Explicitly comparing examples, rather than experiencing examples sequentially, allows negotiators to adjust their models of the current negotiation to incorporate past learning (L Thompson, D Gentner & J Loewenstein, unpublished data). Loewenstein et al (1999) showed that this learning affects subsequent negotiation behavior. Parties taught to draw analogies between cases were almost three times more likely to apply useful frames from other negotiations than were parties exposed to the cases

sequentially. Others (L Thompson, D Gentner & J Loewenstein, unpublished data) argue for the use of analogies in teaching people to apply more useful mental models across negotiations.

The research just discussed focuses on mental models of the situation. Mental models can also focus on the other parties in the negotiation. There is a long research tradition in attribution and interpersonal perception (Gilbert 1994). In addition, researchers have explored the role of these attributions in conflict resolution (e.g. Betancourt & Blair 1992; Bradbury & Fincham 1990; De Dreu et al 1994, 1995a; Forgas 1994; Friedland 1990; Johnson & Rule 1986; Kette 1986; Lord & Smith 1983). For example, researchers have explored the problem of naïve realism in mental models of social conflict and the resulting false polarization effect (Keltner & Robinson 1996, Robinson & Keltner 1996, Robinson et al 1995). In one study, participants who identified themselves as either pro-life or pro-choice responded to a variety of questions relevant to their attitudes about abortion, both for themselves and in the way that they believed the average prolife or pro-choice person would respond. Participants overestimated the degree of ideological difference between themselves and their opponents and saw their ideological opponents as more extreme than they actually were (Robinson & Keltner 1997).

In addition to defining the situation and the other parties or resources in a negotiation, mental models can also be seen in the way people perceive themselves in the negotiation. Montgomery (1998) developed a formal model of strategic play in which players are constrained to follow the meta-rules consistent with their role in a given interaction. Thus, in games with exactly the same economic structure, "a business person" and "a friend" will act differently, in ways that reflect their different roles. A central tenet of role theory is that individuals do not hold immutable roles, rather their roles change with the situation. The "business person" and the "friend" could be the same person in different situations. These models can improve on standard game-theoretic models of bargaining in accounting for empirical findings. Describing what we would call the search for an appropriate mental model, Montgomery (1998) asserted that people in social situations are struggling with "a constantly recurring problem of pattern recognition."

Shared mental models The research just discussed posits mental models as individually held. Within a given negotiation, one party could hold one model, whereas the other holds an orthogonal or even contradictory model. The research discussed in this section suggests that these asymmetries are unlikely to continue through the negotiation—that negotiators quickly create shared understandings of the situation, the parties, and the rules of acceptable behavior (Messick 1999).

Most of the research on shared mental models holds as a basic assumption that these models are dynamic. The phenomenon of one party's beliefs changing the reality for both parties is well documented in the literature on the self-fulfilling prophecy (e.g. Rosenthal 1974), expectancy confirmation (e.g. Darley & Fazio

1980), and behavioral confirmation (Snyder 1992). In short, this literature provides substantial evidence that interpersonal beliefs actively guide social interaction, creating a social world that fits the expectations of the actors. Actors engaged in social interaction behave as if their beliefs about the others are true, and their targets, in turn, tend to act in ways that verify these beliefs. The demonstrations of this effect "are sufficiently numerous that the existence of the phenomenon need not be questioned" (Jones 1986:43). In negotiations, too, the parties, through their belief systems, create the interaction and its outcomes. Negotiators can and do, as Brandenburger & Nalebuff (1996) advocate, "change the game."

Conflict research in communication and anthropology takes as a given that a negotiation script is shared and dynamic (Felstiner et al 1980, Mather & Yngvesson 1981, Merry & Silbey 1984, Putnam & Holmer 1992, Putnam & Poole 1987, Todd 1978). In communications research, the interaction itself, as it evolves in the negotiation, defines the meanings for the involved parties. In anthropological research, the dispute is a series of interpretive acts that define the parties' understanding of and acceptable behavior for the next stage of the dispute.

Pruitt & Carnevale (1993) proposed that negotiations entail collective scripts with "interlocking roles." A working relationship is one of the collective scripts where the interaction flows along a predictable, contingent path, with reciprocity as an important subroutine. When and how negotiators evoke the working relationship script depends on the strength of the relationship. As is true with individually held mental models, norms and rules are likely to accompany this script—specifically, the norms of responsiveness, reciprocity, and truth telling.

Negotiation research is only beginning to adopt the notion that mental models can be developed mutually in interaction. In one of the few studies directly addressing this issue, Pinkley & Northcraft (1994) measured three dimensions of disputant frames before and after a multi-issue negotiation: relationship versus task, cooperate versus win, and emotional versus intellectual (Pinkley 1990). They found that the parties' frames mutually influence each other, converging during the interaction. In turn, these frames affect individual and joint monetary outcomes, as well as satisfaction with the outcomes.

Exploring the same issue at a more cognitive level, De Dreu et al (1995a) found that a negotiator's behavior is influenced by the other party's gain-loss frame. The focal negotiator sends messages that communicate the held frame (e.g. profits and benefits versus expenses or costs). In return, the responding negotiator sends messages adopting this frame. This mutual influence holds primarily when the adopting party has a gain rather than a loss frame (De Dreu et al 1992). Thus, if one party in a negotiation holds a loss frame, the bulk of the communication during the negotiation process will reflect this frame, regardless of the other party's frame at the onset of the negotiation.

Valley and Keros (unpublished data) explicitly traced the process of the interaction with a two-party, distributive negotiation. The investigators found that a very short segment of initial interaction solidifies the mental models of the negotiators (Thompson & Hastie 1990), resulting in either a trusting or a competitive script that carries through the negotiation. When the parties do not come to a common model of the interaction, the negotiation is much more likely to result in impasse or widely disparate payoffs than when a single model is shared, regardless of whether the shared model defines the interaction as trusting or competitive.

Wegner et al (1991) proposed that shared mental models within close relationships need not rely on interaction but result from shared memory systems. Friends are likely to classify, describe, and evaluate information about others and themselves in similar ways (Deutsch & Mackesy 1985). Extending this work into negotiations, a growing body of work (Barsness & Tenbrunsel 1998, Halpern 1997; KL Valley & AT Keros, unpublished data) provides evidence of a shared model of appropriate bargaining behavior between friends. It was found (KL Valley & AT Keros, unpublished data) that many of the touted positive effects of friendship and rich communication media in bargaining are mediated through a shared script.

Taken as a whole, a growing body of research provides evidence that the process and outcome of negotiations cannot be fully understood without a clearer understanding of negotiators' mental models. To come to this clearer understanding, psychological researchers need to devise ways of investigating the presence and role of these models (Rouse & Morris 1986). We need to pay increased attention to how process and outcome are interrelated if we are to obtain more accurate descriptions of negotiations and more useful prescriptions.

Ethics and Sacredness in Negotiation

Ethical standards in negotiation are inextricably tied to the definition of the game. Understanding what sort of game is being played conveys information about rules, boundaries, and which strategies are permissible. There have been some attempts to evaluate the perceived permissibility of the most frequently used bargaining tactics (Lewicki & Stark 1996, Robinson et al 1997). These attempts are consistent with the desire to articulate a general formulation of ethical guidelines, against which any tactic or behavior can be evaluated (e.g. Applbaum 1996). Although ethics, interpreted superficially, impose clear limits on allowable negotiation strategies, much of the evidence on their use in actual negotiations highlights their ambiguity and flexibility.

According to Lewicki & Litterer, "lying and deceit are an integral part of effective negotiation" (1985:324). Certainly it is the case that deception is used in negotiation (Schweitzer 1997) and can be an effective strategy for increasing one's own outcomes (O'Connor & Carnevale 1997). The 1990s saw an active debate on the ethics of deception in negotiation. Some have argued that deception in negotiation is to be expected and is morally acceptable (Strudler 1995, Wokutch & Carson 1993). Others, however, have maintained that the world would be better

off without deception and that it is always morally regrettable (Dees & Cramton 1991, 1995).

Interests, motivations, and incentives influence the interpretation of ethical standards. Kronzon & Darley (1999) show that individuals' perceptions of how ethics apply in a specific situation depend fundamentally on which rules favor themselves. They had participants in their experiment observe an ethically questionable act of deception in a videotaped negotiation. Partisans who allied with the victim perceived the act as more reprehensible than did either partisans allied with the perpetrator or neutral observers. Deception in negotiation increases as the incentives for performance increase (Tenbrunsel 1998). Furthermore, deception is more likely to occur when people have individualistic motivations than when they have cooperative motivations (O'Connor & Carnevale 1997). Despite the influence that situational factors exert on negotiators' perceptions both of the ethical permissibility of various strategies and on actual behavior, research suggests that people underestimate differences in construal and thus are overconfident in their predictions of both their own and others' behavior (Griffin et al 1990).

People are motivated to think of themselves as ethical, and rate themselves as more ethical than the average person (Tenbrunsel 1998). When people do engage in ethically questionable behavior, they often justify it as self-defense (see Shapiro 1991). Consistent with this notion, negotiators' expectations that their opponents will deceive them are influenced by their own tendency to deceive. Tenbrunsel (1998) varied the amount of money participants could win for negotiating successfully. Participants who could win \$100 expected significantly more deception from their opponents and were significantly more likely to deceive than those who could only win \$1. However, participants' expectations of their opponents' deception were not influenced by whether the opponent could win \$1 or \$100.

Players can harmonize their mental models and gain insight into the rules of the game they are playing by communicating with others. However, ethical disagreements may be more difficult to resolve if their goal is not accuracy but moral correctness based on some internal, subjective standard, especially when that internal standard is egocentrically biased (Kronzon & Darley 1999, Wade-Benzoni et al 1996). Tenbrunsel (1999) suggested that construal differences across parties may actually lead to greater expectations of unethical behavior than uniformly high incentives to behave unethically. Disagreements about ethics are likely to be an enduring fixture of real negotiations, on which parties may not be motivated to seek agreement. Yet the existence of multiple conflicting models of fairness need not make conflicts insoluble. Messick (1995) pointed out that different decision rules can be implemented simultaneously.

Sometimes, negotiation itself can be seen as immoral. When issues are tied to sacred values, compromise or trade becomes exceedingly difficult. For example, most people resist setting a price on human life or creating markets for human body parts. Not only will people resist trades or compromises on sacred issues, but even the consideration of such trades may be seen as reprehensible (Tetlock et al 1996). Tetlock et al (1996) explored how people respond to "taboo trade-

offs" that pit sacred values against each other. Taboo trade-offs lie outside the permissible bounds of the game and tend to elicit responses of moral outrage, avoidance, or outright denial (Tetlock et al 1996). Fiske & Tetlock (1997) recently specified a model of misdirected matches of transaction frames. They argued that people code relationships as based on (a) community, (b) authority, (c) equality, or (d) market mechanisms. Perceptions of deviant, unethical, or taboo behavior are most likely to occur when parties hold differing models.

Although Tetlock et al (1996) explicitly avoided endorsing any particular way of responding to taboo trade-offs, Thompson & Gonzalez (1997) took a stronger stand. They pointed out that the daily decisions of life force us to make trades between values we hold dear, even if we do not routinely understand our choices in these terms. Thompson & Gonzalez (1997) suggested that in many negotiations where one side claims an issue is sacred, the issue is not, in fact, sacred but pseudosacred. Issues are pseudosacred when negotiators would consider trading that issue, given adequate compensation. In desperate times, people have sold their kidneys and even their children.

Tough bargaining strategies aside, insincere claims of sacredness may lock parties into suboptimal negotiation outcomes. Integrative negotiation depends fundamentally on parties' ability to trade issues against each other (Froman & Cohen 1970, Walton & McKersie 1965). Claims of sacredness that rule out certain trades or compromises restrict the game. An unwillingness to consider trades because of sacred values may constrain the set of permissible agreements in ways that reduce the value of negotiated outcomes for all parties by turning negotiations into win-lose battles in highly restricted domains (Thompson & Gonzalez 1997).

Concerns about ethics and sacredness pose as general rules of allowable and appropriate conduct in negotiation. Ethical guidelines define the rules and permissible negotiation strategies. Negotiators tend to make decisions of ethical appropriateness in an egocentric fashion and to favor those rules that favor themselves. However, negotiators can also hurt themselves by claiming certain issues to be sacred when in fact they are not, thereby placing constraints on the game and on their ability to find integrative trade-offs.

Choosing a Medium of Communication

One way in which negotiators can influence the mental model held by other parties is by their choice of communications media. As we enter the new millennium, we see an expanding universe of technologically mediated communication channels, such as telephone, fax, express mail, videophone, and electronic mail. Whereas in the 1960s when little was known about the influence of communication media on negotiation (Smith 1969), today researchers generally agree that medium of communication affects social conflict in a number of important ways (Carnevale & Probst 1997, Roth 1995, Valley et al 1998). The technology we use to negotiate affects our definition of the negotiation game and the behavior deemed appropriate for the interaction (KL Valley & AT Keros, unpublished data).

Therefore, from the perspective of an individual negotiator, the choice of communication medium can be critical to the process and outcome of a negotiation. In this section, we review research findings that bear on the question of whether or not a negotiator should seek face-to-face communication.

The case for face-to-face communication in bargaining Most researchers studying the impact of communication media conceptualize the various forms of media along a continuum of "social presence" (Fulk et al 1990, Rutter & Robinson 1981). That is, face-to-face communication has the richest level of social presence, followed by audio/visual, audio, and finally written or computer-mediated communication. Accordingly, in a study by Drolet & Morris (1999), face-to-face communication enabled participants to develop greater rapport and cooperation than audio-only communication. Thus, unless a close relationship already exists or rapport can be generated by some alternative means (see Moore et al 1999), rapport is more likely to be developed and consequently more likely to improve negotiated outcomes in face-to-face interaction. This research suggests that in negotiations where rapport is more likely (e.g. face-to-face, between closely related parties, where cooperation is primed), we can expect to see a more shared, dynamic evolution of the mental model.

Truth telling is higher in face-to-face negotiations than in other media. In a two-person negotiation exercise involving asymmetric information, Valley et al (1998) found that participants negotiating face-to-face achieve higher joint benefit, due to higher levels of truth telling than those negotiating by telephone or in writing. In the game used by Valley et al (1998), the seller held the informational advantage. Buyers' trust was higher in verbal interaction than in written interaction, regardless of whether the verbal communication took place face-to-face or over the telephone, yet trustworthiness among the sellers was higher only in face-to-face interaction. In other words, deceit may be less common in the context of face-to-face interaction, increasing the likelihood of mutually beneficial agreements, whereas suspicion of deceit and actual deceit may be higher in the context of written interaction, increasing the likelihood of impasse. In telephone interaction, the players do not seem to share the same mental model: The buyer appears to be operating under a model assuming trustworthiness, whereas the seller is operating under a model allowing deception. The result is likely to be a bad deal for the trusting buyer.

A significant proportion of a message's meaning comes from facial and vocal cues rather than the actual words themselves (DePaulo & Friedman 1998). Therefore, it is no surprise that removal of such cues can reduce a message's clarity. Evidence for this assertion is found in the results of studies that utilize dilemma games (Sally 1995). Without the presence of clear communication, participants are less likely to coordinate their moves to achieve mutual cooperation. Accordingly, in a study by Wichman (1970), 87% of participants playing 78 trial prisoner's dilemma games cooperated when they could see and hear one another,

72% when they could only hear one another, 48% when they could only see one another, and 41% when they could neither hear nor see one another.

The case against face-to-face communication in bargaining The aforementioned advantages of conducting negotiations face-to-face notwithstanding, under certain conditions, conducting negotiations via telephone or other audio-only channels might be preferable. In a study by Lewis & Fry (1977), individualistically oriented negotiators used fewer pressure tactics, were less likely to impasse, and obtained higher joint profit when they negotiated with a barrier that prevented them from seeing each other. Participants with a more cooperative problem solving orientation were not significantly affected by the presence of the barrier. Other studies have found similar tension-enhancing effects of face-to-face communication when negotiators possess high levels of accountability (Carnevale et al 1981) or when low-Machiavellian negotiators are matched with high-Machiavellian negotiators (Christie & Geis 1970, Fry 1985).

Carnevale et al concluded that, under certain conditions, "...the other party's gaze may be interpreted as an effort to dominate. ... [B]argainers will make pressure statements only if they can accompany them with efforts to stare the other down" (1981:113). Lewis & Fry (1977) noted that the negative consequences that sometimes accompany face-to-face interaction are consistent with Zajone's (1965) theory that the visible presence of others has arousal-inducing properties. Arousal leads to dominant behavioral responses, and dominant behavioral responses to conflict typically involve either attack or retreat (Selye 1976). Therefore, under conditions of high arousal, audio-only communication may facilitate more sophisticated, adaptive negotiating strategies.

Although written communication may share some of these mitigating effects on arousal, e-mail communication in particular—especially in the context of high arousal—could make things worse rather than better. When a communication medium like e-mail lacks social context cues, people tend to become more forthright in their communication, even to the point of weakening inhibitions on socially undesirable behavior, either because of reduced evaluation anxiety or because of reduced attention to social norms (Kiesler & Sproull 1992). Moreover, a feeling of anonymity that tends to accompany e-mail communications may exacerbate such disinhibition (Griffith & Northcraft 1994, Thompson 1998, Zimbardo 1969). Dubrovsky et al (1991) found that, among 24 four-person decisionmaking groups interacting via computer, there were 102 instances of rude or impulsive behavior, whereas another 24 groups that interacted face-to-face produced only 12 such remarks. Among computer aficionados, this uninhibited or antisocial behavior is referred to as flaming (Sproull & Kiesler 1991). Perhaps as a result of this uninhibited behavior, e-mail negotiations suffer from higher rates of breakdown (Croson 1999). Therefore, audio-only communication may be the best choice of media when it comes to negotiating under conditions of high arousal.

One potential benefit of e-mail interaction is its tendency to cut across social hierarchies. In three experiments comparing the effects of face-to-face and computer-mediated communication, Siegel et al (1986) found that the amount of participation is more equally distributed among group members interacting via computer than among group members interacting face-to-face. Whereas face-to-face discussions often involve status differentials that determine talk time (Bales et al 1951), computer-mediated discussions have fewer social status cues (Sproull & Kiesler 1991). Although some interpret this lack of social regulation in computer-mediated communication as disorganized (i.e. lacking in efficiency) (Williams 1977), many see it as egalitarian.

In summary, a negotiator often can influence the negotiation game and its outcome through his or her choice of a communication medium. Research indicates that this decision should depend in large part on the circumstances of the negotiation. Conducting negotiations face-to-face appears to be more likely to foster development of rapport, less likely to involve deceit, and less likely to involve misunderstanding. However, when rapport already exists and/or tension (i.e. arousal) is high, audio-only communication may reduce the likelihood of pressure tactics that might otherwise result in domination or hostility. Moreover, in other cases, where conflicts involve low levels of arousal and meeting by phone or in person is overly costly or prohibited, computer-mediated negotiations may allow for certain benefits, such as more evenly distributed participation. Because the choice of medium so clearly changes the negotiation game, prescriptive advice should take these contingencies into consideration.

Cross-Cultural Issues in Negotiation

In their review of research on negotiation and mediation, Carnevale & Pruitt (1992) predicted that cultural differences in negotiation would increase in importance as a result of growing interrelationships among nations. Indeed, over the past decade, we have seen an expansion of research on culture and negotiation (Weiss 1996). In this section, we review two types of literature. The first type includes research on cross-cultural differences in negotiation behavior as well as how these affect and are affected by the parties' conceptions of negotiation. The second type deals with negotiating across cultural boundaries and prescriptive techniques for doing so successfully. Put differently, we review both differences in the negotiation game between cultures and how negotiators might change their game (or even change their mental models) to facilitate negotiation across cultures.

The nature of the negotiation game within cultures Over the past decade, dozens of studies have examined how the meaning and practice of negotiation varies across cultures (for reviews see Cohen 1997, Leung 1998, Markus & Lin 1998). Although a growing number of studies have examined organizational cul-

ture (e.g. Chatman et al 1998, Mannix et al 1995), for the purposes of this paper, we focus on national cultures.

Of the multiple dimensions of cultural variability recognized by cultural psychologists, the most relevant to the culture and negotiation literature have been collectivism-individualism, power distance, communication context, and conception of time (Brett et al 1998, Cohen 1997, Leung 1998). The first two dimensions emerged from a much-cited survey of international values conducted by Hofstede (1980, 1983). The last two dimensions emerged from the work of Hall (1976).

Although individualism-collectivism may in fact represent a number of cultural factors rather than a single trait (Triandis 1995), it is perhaps the most important (Triandis 1990) as well as the most frequently cited cultural dimension in studies of negotiation (Leung 1998). Members of individualist cultures are said to have loose ties among individuals and to value independence, uniqueness, and individual goals, whereas members of collectivist countries are said to have tight ties among individuals and to value interdependence, doing one's duty, and the goals of the collective (Hofstede 1983, Markus & Kitayama 1991, Triandis 1990).

Many researchers have explored how the individualism-collectivism dimension applies to conflict management. Generally speaking, the individualist negotiator (e.g. United States, Great Britain, The Netherlands) is more concerned with preserving individual rights and attributes, whereas the collectivist negotiator (e.g. Colombia, Pakistan, Taiwan) is more concerned with preserving relationships (Markus & Lin 1998). A number of cross-cultural studies of negotiation-related behavior and cognition have provided data consistent with the generalization that members of individualist cultures are more likely to handle conflicts directly through competition and problem solving, whereas members of collectivist cultures are more likely to handle conflict in indirect ways that attempt to preserve the relationship (Leung 1998, Starr & Yngvesson 1975). For example, Americans (individualists) were more likely than Japanese (collectivists) to hold egocentric notions of fairness and to defect in asymmetric social dilemmas (i.e. placing individual goals ahead of group goals) (KA Wade-Benzoni, T Okumura, JM Brett, DA Moore, AE Tenbrunsel et al, unpublished data). In a conflict scenario study (E Weldon, KA Jehn, L Doucet, X Chen & W Zhong-Ming, unpublished data), Chinese (collectivists) more frequently addressed the conflict with the express interest of maintaining relationships, whereas Americans simply wanted to address the incident itself. Members of collectivist cultures were more likely than members of individualist cultures to use deception, typically as a means of saving face, avoiding confrontation or preserving harmony (HC Triandis, P Carnevale, M Gelfand, C Robert, A Wasti, et al, unpublished data).

In comparison to the collectivism-individualism dimension, three other dimensions—power distance, communication context, and conception of time—have received only minimal attention in cross-cultural studies of negotiation. Power distance refers to the relative prevalence of social or professional hierarchies in a society (Hofstede 1980). High power distance societies reflect inequalities among individuals on the basis of these hierarchies, whereas low power

distance societies reflect more egalitarian values. Communication context is the degree to which communicated messages inherit meaning from the settings in which they are transmitted (Hall 1976). Low communication context cultures use explicit, direct language, whereas high communication context cultures use implicit, indirect language in which words and phrases derive their meanings from contextual clues. Finally, conception of time refers to the way in which people perceive and manage their time. A polychronic conception of time is the notion that time is plentiful and many tasks can be undertaken simultaneously, whereas a monochronic conception of time is the notion that time is scarce and only one task can be handled at a time (Hall 1983).

In a conflict scenario study, Tinsley (1998) found each of the three cultural dimensions described above to account partially for normative models of conflict resolution in Japan, Germany, and the United States. Moreover, in his review of the literature on culture and negotiation, Leung (1998) provided evidence for the following associations. First, members of high-power-distance cultures (e.g. the Philippines, Venezuela, India, France, Belgium) have fewer conflicts with their superiors and are more likely to have superiors intervene in settling their conflicts than do members of low-power-distance cultures (e.g. Denmark, Israel, Austria) (Bond et al 1985, Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey 1988; for review see James 1993). Second, members of low-context cultures (e.g. United States, Germany, Scandinavia, Switzerland) have been found to communicate more directly than members of high-context cultures (e.g. Japan, China, Korea, Vietnam) (Chua & Gudykunst 1987). More recent evidence suggests, however, that the more important differences may be in the goals of the communication and not the amount of direct communication (E Weldon, KA Jehn, L Doucet, X Chen & W Zhong-Ming, unpublished data). Third, negotiators who hold monochronic conceptions of time (e.g. North American, Western Europe) are more likely to process issues sequentially and to negotiate in a highly organized fashion, whereas negotiators with polychronic conceptions of time (e.g. Asia, Africa, South America, Middle East) are more likely to process issues simultaneously while ignoring conversational turn-taking (i.e. speaking simultaneously) and using frequent interruptions (Foster 1992).

Overall, attempts to correlate cultural value dimensions with cross-cultural differences in intracultural negotiations have produced only partial success (Tinsley & Brett 1997; E Weldon, KA Jehn, L Doucet, X Chen & W Zhong-Ming, unpublished data). Tinsley & Brett (1997) argued that value dimensions such as the four just discussed lack predictive power and therefore should not be used to predict negotiation behavior. Instead, they advocate domain-specific, normatively based predictors such as asking study participants to rate the appropriateness of a given conflict-handling behavior, explaining each party's underlying concerns, or seeking help from a boss (Tinsley & Brett 1997). However, Weldon & Jehn (1995) suggested that the problem of low predictive power could be mitigated through the use of inductive approaches to the generation of conflict scenarios

and the measurement of conflict behaviors (E Weldon, KA Jehn, L Doucet, X Chen & W Zhong-Ming, unpublished data).

Difficulties predicting behavior based on cultural value dimensions recall the failure of individual-differences research to predict specific behaviors (Ross & Nisbett 1991, Thompson 1998). Perhaps a more fertile avenue for research lies in studying how cultural traits, in conjunction with individual definitions of the game, influence negotiation behavior (Neuberg 1988). Such a relationship is suggested by investigators (DA Briley, MW Morris & I Simonson, unpublished data), who demonstrated how individually held mental models moderate the effect of culture on choice behavior. When individuals were made introspective by having to provide reasons before making choices, their choices varied more on the basis of their culture than when no reasons were required. A similar interaction between culture and individually held mental models may also govern negotiation behavior.

Negotiation across cultures—changing the game Cross-cultural differences are substantial, and negotiating across cultures (intercultural negotiations) differs dramatically from negotiating within the same culture (Adler & Graham 1989). Indeed, tales of "cross-cultural conflict—faux pas and 'blunders'—abound" (Weiss 1994:52). Tinsley et al (1999) described the process of intercultural negotiation as akin to a dance in which one person does a waltz and another a tango. Different cultures may not share some of the most basic assumptions; evidence suggests that there is cultural variation in the tendency to fall victim to the fixed-pie assumption (Starr & Yngvesson 1975) and the fundamental attribution error (Morris & Peng 1994).

According to Tinsley et al (1999), intercultural negotiations present a sort of "dilemma of differences." On the one hand, differences between cultural scripts present procedural conflict at the bargaining table; on the other hand, differences in preferences present opportunities for logrolling. For example, cultures that differ in their perceptions of risk (see Weber & Hsee 1999) can create value by sharing risks and benefits proportionally but asymmetrically (Bontempo et al 1997). However, the price of realizing such joint gains is high. In a study of intercultural negotiations by Brett & Okumura (1998), Japanese and American participants negotiated a hypothetical mixed-motive conflict with either a sameculture partner or an other-culture partner. As expected, intercultural dyads reached outcomes that were of lower joint value than intracultural dyads. Responses to a postnegotiation questionnaire revealed that intercultural dyads had less-accurate mutual understanding of each other's priorities (although Japanese negotiators understood more about American priorities than vice versa). Consistent with the power-distance dimension, Americans viewed their walk-away option as a source of power, whereas Japanese had preexisting notions of power based on role assignments (i.e. buyer versus seller). Finally, consistent with the collectivism-individualism dimension, Americans were more focused on selfinterest than were Japanese—a factor that, when asymmetrical between negotiators, has been found to lead to premature closure of negotiations (Huber & Neale 1987). The authors speculate that a combination of these factors—insufficient information sharing, power struggle, and asymmetric focus on self-interest—led to lower levels of joint gains among intercultural negotiation dyads.

A growing literature has emerged to address the intercultural negotiation challenge through prescriptive advice to practitioners (e.g. Corne 1992, Morrison et al 1994, Shapiro & von Glinow 1999, Weiss 1994). This advice usually suggests modifying how one plays the game or, even better, modifying how one's opponent plays the game. The problem is that even if negotiators were to agree on a cultural norm by which to conduct their business, there is no evidence that an individual negotiator could transcend his or her own cultural background (Brett & Okumura 1998). Shapiro & von Glinow (1999) conceded that "stepping out" of one's culture would be difficult. A more plausible suggestion was offered by Weiss (1994), who instructed intercultural negotiators to jointly follow the culture with which both negotiators are most familiar. Clearly, more research is necessary to determine the feasibility and effectiveness of these strategies.

In sum, cross-cultural differences in the negotiation game can be conceptualized along four basic dimensions—collectivism-individualism, power distance, communication context, and conception of time (Brett et al 1998, Cohen 1997). Most empirical research has focused on the first of these dimensions—collectivism-individualism—and has documented both behavioral and cognitive manifestations related to negotiation. Although the research using cultural value dimensions alone has suffered from predictive shortcomings (Tinsley & Brett 1997), perhaps the use of mental models in conjunction with culture (e.g. DA Briley, MW Morris & I Simonson, unpublished data) will prove more fruitful. The prescriptive literature is growing, but the most common suggestion for negotiation across cultures involves deliberate changes to the negotiation game. Although in theory such changes seem reasonable, research has not, to our knowledge, confirmed its viability for the typical negotiator.

Negotiation With More Than Two Players

Increasing the number of players involved in a negotiation dramatically increases the complexity of the situation in at least five ways: informational, computational, procedural, social, and strategic (Kramer 1991). As new players are added to a conflict, the number of potential dyadic connections between players increases exponentially. Different parties are likely to bring a variety of interests to the table, and simply understanding these interests, let alone finding ways to integrate them, can become an exceedingly complex task. Multiparty negotiations are situations in which a full understanding of the situation, with the variety of potential strategies and outcomes, may simply be impossible. Making the problem tractable often necessitates simplification of the structure or organization of the interaction, and there may be many justifiable ways to accomplish this simplification. Different ways will have different consequences for the outcome of the negotiation.

Developing a manageable understanding of the situation is essentially the problem of how people structure and define the negotiation game when there are more than two players. Empirical research has highlighted some of the ways that they do this.

One procedural tool for managing conflict in the face of that complexity is to implement decision-making rules that control participants' opportunities to communicate or specify how the group will make a decision (e.g. dictatorship, majority rule, unanimity). However, many procedures designed to reduce conflict or organize the process of multiparty negotiation also serve to reduce the opportunities for negotiators to learn about each others' interests and to find integrative gains (Bazerman et al 1988). For example, an agenda that leads negotiators to resolve issues one at a time dramatically reduces their ability to improve the quality of the agreement using trade-offs across issues (Mannix et al 1989, Weingart et al 1993). On the other hand, a unanimity decision rule, which requires agreement from all parties, can be cumbersome to implement, but tends to increase the quality of agreements (Thompson et al 1988). Groups without any shared mental model for dealing with the negotiation are likely to seek some such coordination; simply telling a group about a guideline without requiring its use can nevertheless be a large influence on group norms and future group agreements (Mannix & Blount White 1992).

Another way to structure the information-processing complexity of multiparty negotiations is to limit communication to subsets of the group. Even when all parties' participation is necessary for an agreement, constraining communication to dyadic encounters results in lower levels of cooperation, less-equal outcomes, and a decrease in integrative trade-offs involving more than two parties (Palmer & Thompson 1995). When parties can be excluded from the final agreement, caucusing increases the likelihood of coalition agreements (Kim 1997, Mannix 1993a).

The possibility of shutting some parties out of an agreement is one distinguishing feature of multiparty disputes. Although some multiparty conflicts require the participation of all parties for an agreement, many can be resolved by a coalition. Analysis of coalition games has a long history (Gamson 1961, Luce & Raiffa 1957). Forming coalitions to reduce the number of parties to an agreement is one way to simplify a complex multiparty deal. Research finds that various factors that increase the complexity of multiparty negotiations, such as asymmetry between parties (Mannix 1993b) or uncertainty regarding outcomes (Mannix & Blount White 1992), also increase the occurrence of coalition agreements.

The embeddedness of negotiated outcomes in social relations can also be an important factor in the resolution of multiparty negotiations. Although structural analyses of coalition formation suggest that coalitions will often be unstable (Murnighan & Brass 1991), the social context of interpersonal relationships in which coalitions form may contribute to their stability (Polzer et al 1995). Negotiators tend to form coalitions with those who have been allies in the past, even if better partners exist, based on the congruence of interests (Polzer et al 1998). Further-

more, the spoils from coalition games tend to be allocated more equally (Mannix 1994) and include more parties (Mannix 1991) when the players care about future interactions with their negotiating partners.

Increases in the informational and computational complexity of the negotiation situation extend the length of time it takes to reach agreement (Polzer 1996) and may lead to information overload (Morely 1982), which increases the use of cognitive heuristics. Therefore, we might expect simplifying strategies or cognitive mistakes to be more common in complex multiparty negotiations. For example, we might expect multiparty negotiations to have more trouble achieving integrative gains than dyadic negotiations, and we might expect outcomes to gravitate toward social heuristics or focal points such as equal division (Debusschere & van Avermaet 1984, Messick 1993), rather than more complex allocation rationales. However, given that people interpret fairness in egocentric ways (Diekmann et al 1997), additional complexity is likely to increase dissention about what a fair outcome would be (Thompson & Loewenstein 1992). This dissention may increase the chances of delays, stalemates, and impasses.

There is more optimistic evidence from experiments that compare individual with team negotiation. These experiments, which have only two sides represented in a negotiation but which vary the number of people representing each side, suggest that teams have some distinct advantages. When teams negotiate against individuals, the teams tend to claim a larger portion of the bargaining surplus (Polzer 1996, Thompson et al 1996). At the same time, teams exchange more information (Thompson et al 1996), generate more high-quality ideas for solutions (Polzer 1996), and tend to enhance the integrative value of the resulting agreement (Polzer 1996, Thompson et al 1996). However, teams perceive themselves, and are perceived by their opponents, to be less cooperative and less trustworthy than are individual negotiators (Polzer 1996). In addition, team members tend to be less satisfied with both the negotiation process and the outcome than are individuals (Polzer 1996).

As the number of parties in a negotiation increases, the complexity of the dispute rises quickly. Negotiators may respond to this complexity by simplifying the negotiation game in several ways. They may rely on group norms. They may form coalitions that reduce the number of parties to an agreement. They may implement procedures that establish decision rules. Although there are reasons to assume that increased complexity would increase reliance on cognitive simplifications of the negotiation landscape, evidence suggests that negotiating teams are better than individuals at exchanging information that allows them to find wise agreements.

CONCLUSION

The psychological study of negotiation has witnessed an amazing set of shifts over the past 25 years, often in parallel with more global changes in the field of psychology and the broader society. We view these changes as useful and exciting.

We have seen the birth and death of the study of personality and structural variables that were common in the precognitive era of social psychology (Bazerman et al 2000). We have seen the development of a behavioral decision perspective in the 1980s and 1990s shift the attention of researchers to the decision processes of the actor, and we have witnessed the criticism that resulted from the narrowness of this perspective. We have seen the reemergence of the role of social psychology in the study of how social context affects negotiator decision making. And, finally, this paper has attempted to integrate recent research that calls for a better understanding of how negotiators define the negotiation game that they are playing.

We see the backdrop of rationality as critical to the impact of the psychological study of negotiation on related fields. We believe that the main reason the behavioral decision perspective dominated negotiation research in the 1980s and 1990s is that this perspective made it explicitly clear what was needed to improve negotiation behaviors—the debiasing of the mind of the negotiator. This perspective has now spilled over into the new social psychology of negotiations that we overviewed in this chapter. And we see this perspective as relevant to creating useful research about how the negotiator defines the game.

As laboratory researchers, we are sympathetic to the constraints of the laboratory methodology. However, it is also important to realize the resulting biases in the definition of the field. Most negotiation experiments are easiest to create when it is in the power of the researcher to specify the game. Unfortunately, this researcher specification may have inhibited the study of how negotiators psychologically define the game. Many of us have been annoyed by the "weird" things that our experimental participants do, particularly when they "ruin" the significance of our effects. However, one important source of error may be in not understanding how our participants redefine the game.

Finally, we offer our review as a call for better integration of the multiple subfields of psychology to understand negotiation. The psychological study of negotiation was once a subfield of social psychology (Rubin & Brown 1975), but this is no longer the case. We now have important contributions from social psychology (Bazerman et al 2000), cognitive psychology (Loewenstein et al 1999), behavioral decision research (Thompson 1998), and clinical psychology (Greenhalgh & Chapman 1997, Greenhalgh & Okun 1998). Moreover, early work suggests that physiological factors can increase our understanding of negotiations as well (TC Burnham, unpublished data; ME Schweitzer, unpublished data). We hope that these multiple lenses can create a more unified understanding so that psychology can help the world overcome barriers to effective negotiation behavior.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper benefited from useful and insightful suggestions offered by Adam Brandenburger, Carsten De Dreu, David Messick, Keith Murnighan, Jeff Polzer, and Leigh Thompson. We received support for this research from the Dispute Resolution Research Center at Northwestern University, the Dean's office of the Kellogg School at Northwestern, and Faculty Research Support from the Harvard Business School.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org.

LITERATURE CITED

- Adler N, Graham JL. 1989. Cross-cultural interaction: the international comparison fallacy? J. Int. Bus. Stud. 20:515–37
- Allred KG, Mallozzi JS, Matsui F, Raia CP. 1997. The influence of anger and compassion on negotiation performance. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 70:175–87
- Applbaum AI. 1996. Rules of the game, permissible harms, and the principle of fair play. In Wise Choices: Decisions, Games, and Negotiations, ed. RJ Zeckhauser, RL Keeney, JK Sebenius, pp. 301–21. Boston: Harvard Bus. Sch. Press
- Axelrod S, May JG. 1968. Effect of increased reward on the two-person non-zero-sum game. *Psychol. Rep.* 11:109–26
- Babcock L, Loewenstein G. 1997. Explaining bargaining impasse: the role of self-serving biases. J. Econ. Perspect. 11:109–26
- Babcock L, Loewenstein G, Issacharoff S, Camerer C. 1995. Biased judgments of fairness in bargaining. Am. Econ. Rev. 85:1337–43
- Babcock L, Olson C. 1992. The causes of impasses in labor disputes. *Ind. Relat.* 31:348–60
- Baker WE. 1984. The social structure of a national securities market. Am. J. Sociol. 89:775–811
- Baker WE. 1990. Market networks and corporate behavior. *Am. J. Sociol.* 96:589–625
- Bales R, Strodtbeck FL, Mills TM, Roseborough ME. 1951. Channels of communication in small groups. Am. Sociol. Rev. 16:461–68
- Barry B. 1999. The tactical use of emotion in negotiation. See Lewicki et al 1999, 7:93– 121

- Barry B, Friedman RA. 1998. Bargainer characteristics in distributive and integrative negotiation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74:345–59
- Barsness Z, Tenbrunsel AE. 1998. Technologically-mediated communication and negotiation: Do relationships matter? Presented at Annu. Meet. Int. Assoc. Conflict Manage., College Park, MD
- Bazerman MH. 1998. *Judgment in Managerial Decision Making*. New York: Wiley. 4th ed.
- Bazerman MH, Carroll JS. 1987. Negotiator cognition. Res. Organ. Behav. 9:247–88
- Bazerman MH, Curhan JR, Moore DA. 2000. The death and rebirth of the social psychology of negotiation. In *Blackwell Handbook of Social Psychology*, ed. M Clark, G Fletcher. In press. Cambridge, MA: Blackwell
- Bazerman MH, Gibbons R, Thompson L, Valley KL. 1998a. Can negotiators outperform game theory? In *Debating Rationally: Non-rational Aspects in Organizational Decision Making*, ed. JJ Halpern, RN Stern, pp. 79–98. Ithaca, NY: ILR
- Bazerman MH, Magliozzi T, Neale MA. 1985. The acquisition of an integrative response in a competitive market. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 34:294–313
- Bazerman MH, Mannix EA, Thompson LL. 1988. Groups as mixed-motive negotiations. In *Advances in Group Processes*, ed. EJ Lawler, B Markovsky. 5:195–216. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Bazerman MH, Moore DA, Gillespie JJ. 1999. The human mind as a barrier to wiser environmental agreements. *Am. Behav. Sci.* 42:1254–76

- Bazerman MH, Neale MA. 1982. Improving negotiation effectiveness under final offer arbitration: the role of selection and training. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 67:543–48
- Bazerman MH, Neale MA. 1983. Heuristics in negotiation: limitations to effective dispute resolution. In *Negotiating in Organizations*, ed. MH Bazerman, RJ Lewicki, pp. 51–67. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage
- Bazerman MH, Neale MA. 1992. *Negotiating Rationally*. New York: Free Press
- Bazerman MH, Tenbrunsel AE, Wade-Benzoni KA. 1998b. Negotiating with yourself and losing: understanding and managing competing internal preferences. *Acad. Manage.* Rev. 23:225–41
- Betancourt H, Blair I. 1992. A cognition (attribution)-emotion model of violence in conflict situations. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 18:343–50
- Bies RJ, Lewicki RJ, Sheppard BH, eds. 1991.
 Research on Negotiation in Organizations,
 Vol. 3. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Bizman A, Hoffman M. 1993. Expectations, emotions, and preferred responses regarding the Arab-Israeli conflict: an attributional analysis. J. Confl. Resolut. 37:139– 59
- Bond MH, Wan KC, Leung K, Giacalone R. 1985. How are responses to verbal insults related to cultural collectivism and power distance? J. Cross-Cult. Psychol. 16:111– 27
- Bontempo RN, Bottom WP, Weber EU. 1997. Cross-cultural differences in risk perception: a model-based approach. *Risk Anal*. 17:479–88
- Bottom WP, Studt A. 1993. Framing effects and the distributive aspect of integrative bargaining. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 56:459–74
- Bradbury TN, Fincham FD. 1990. Attributions in marriage: review and critique. *Psychol. Bull.* 107:3–33
- Brandenburger AM, Nalebuff BJ. 1996. *Coopetition*. New York: Doubleday
- Brett JM, Adair W, Lempereur A, Okumura T, Shikhirev P, et al. 1998. Culture and joint

- gains in negotiation. *Negot. J.*, Jan., pp. 61–86
- Brett JM, Okumura T. 1998. Inter- and intracultural negotiation: US and Japanese negotiators. *Acad. Manage. J.* 41:495–510
- Brown JD. 1986. Evaluations of self and others: self-enhancement biases in social judgments. Soc. Cogn. 4:353–76
- Camerer C, Loewenstein G. 1993. Information, fairness, and efficiency in bargaining. See Mellers & Baron 1993, pp. 155–81
- Carnevale PJD, Isen AM. 1986. The influence of positive affect and visual access on the discovery of integrative solutions in bilateral negotiation. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 37:1–13
- Carnevale PJD, Probst TM. 1997. Conflict on the internet. In *Culture of the Internet*, ed. S Kiesler. pp. 233–55. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum
- Carnevale PJD, Pruitt DG. 1992. Negotiation and mediation. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 43:511–82
- Carnevale PJD, Pruitt DG, Seilheimer SD. 1981. Looking and competing: accountability and visual access in integrative bargaining. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 40:111–20
- Carroll JS, Bazerman MH, Maury R. 1988. Negotiator cognitions: a descriptive approach to negotiators' understanding of their opponents. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 41:352–70
- Chatman JA, Polzer JT, Barsade SG, Neale MA. 1998. Being different yet feeling similar: the influence of demographic composition and organizational culture on work processes and outcomes. *Adm. Sci. Q.* 43:749–80
- Christie R, Geis FL. 1970. Studies in Machiavellianism. New York: Academic
- Chua E, Gudykunst W. 1987. Conflict resolution styles in low- and high-context cultures. *Commun. Res. Rep.* 4:32–37
- Clark MS, Chrisman K. 1994. Resource allocation in intimate relationships: trying to make sense of a confusing literature. In *Entitlement and the Affectional Bond*, ed.

- MJ Lerner, G Mikula, pp. 65–88. New York: Plenum
- Cohen R. 1997. *Negotiation Across Cultures*. Washington, DC: US Inst. Peace
- Corne PH. 1992. The complex art of negotiation between different cultures. *Disput. Resolut. J.* 47:46–50
- Crocker J. 1982. Biased questions in judgment of covariation studies. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 8:214–20
- Croson RTA. 1999. Look at me when you say that: An electronic negotiation simulation. Simul. Gaming. 30:23–27
- Curhan JR, Neale MA, Ross L. 1998. Dynamic valuation: preference change in the context of active face-to-face negotiations. Presented at Annu. Stanford/Berkeley talks, Stanford, CA
- Darley JM, Fazio RH. 1980. Expectancy-confirmation processes arising in the social interaction sequence. *Am. Psychol.* 35:867–81
- Dawes RM. 1998. Behavioral decision making and judgment. In *Handbook of Social Psychology*, ed. DT Gilbert, ST Fiske, G Lindzey, pp. 497–548. New York: McGraw-Hill. 4th ed.
- Debusschere M, van Avermaet E. 1984. Compromising between equity and equality: the effects of situational ambiguity and computational complexity. Eur. J. Soc. Psychol. 14:323–33
- De Dreu CKW. 1996. Gain-loss frame in outcome-interdependence: Does it influence equality or equity considerations? *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 26:315–24
- De Dreu CKW, Carnevale PJD, Emans BJM, van de Vliert E. 1994. Gain-loss frames in negotiation: loss aversion, mismatching, and frame adoption. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 60:90–107
- De Dreu CKW, Carnevale PJD, Emans BJM, van de Vliert E. 1995a. Outcomes frames in bilateral negotiation: resistance to concession making and frame adoption. In *European Review of Ssocial Psychology*, ed. W Stroebe, M Hewstone, pp. 97–125. New York: Wiley

- De Dreu CKW, Emans BJM, van de Vliert E. 1992. The influence of own cognitive and other's communicated gain or loss frame on negotiator cognition and behavior. *Int. J. Confl. Manage.* 3:115–32
- De Dreu CKW, McCusker C. 1997. Gain-loss frames and cooperation in two-person social dilemmas: a transformational analysis. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 72:1093–106
- De Dreu CKW, Nauta A, van de Vliert E. 1995b. Self-serving evaluations of conflict behavior and escalation of the dispute. *J. Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 25:2049–66
- Dees JG, Cramton PC. 1991. Shrewd bargaining on the moral frontier: toward a theory of morality in practice. *Bus. Ethics Q.* 1:135–67
- Dees JG, Cramton PC. 1995. Deception and mutual trust: a reply to Strudler. *Bus. Ethics Q*. 5:823–32
- DePaulo BM, Friedman HS. 1998. Nonverbal communication. In *The Handbook of Social Psychology*, ed. DT Gilbert, ST Fiske, G Lindzey, 2:3–40. Boston: McGraw Hill. 4th ed.
- Deutsch FM, Mackesy ME. 1985. Friendship and the development of self-schemas: the effects of talking about others. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 11:399–408
- Diekmann KA. 1997. 'Implicit justifications' and self-serving group allocations. *J. Organ. Behav.* 18:3–16
- Diekmann KA, Samuels SM, Ross L, Bazerman MH. 1997. Self-interest and fairness in problems of resource allocation: allocators versus recipients. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 72:1061–74
- Diekmann KA, Tenbrunsel AE, Bazerman MH. 1999. Escalation and negotiation: two central themes in the work of Jeffrey Z. Rubin. In *Negotiation Ethics: Essays in Memory of Jeffrey Z. Rubin*, ed. D Kolb. Cambridge, MA: PON Books
- Diekmann KA, Tenbrunsel AE, Shah PP, Schroth HA, Bazerman MH. 1996. The descriptive and prescriptive use of previous purchase price in negotiations. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 66:179–91

- Drolet AL, Morris MW. 1999. Rapport in conflict resolution: accounting for how nonverbal exchange fosters coordination on mutually beneficial settlements to mixed motive conflicts. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* In press
- Druckman D. 1967. Dogmatism, prenegotiation experience, and simulated group representation as determinants of dyadic behavior in a bargaining situation. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 6:279–90
- Dubrovsky VJ, Kiesler S, Sethna BN. 1991. The equalization phenomenon: status effects in computer-mediated and face-to-face decision-making groups. *Hum. Comp. Interact.* 6:119–46
- Felstiner WLF, Abel RL, Sarat A. 1980. The emergence and transformation of disputes: naming, blaming, claiming. *Law Soc. Rev.* 15:631–54
- Fiske AP, Tetlock PE. 1997. Taboo trade-offs: reactions to transactions that transgress the spheres of justice. *Polit. Psychol.* 18:255– 97
- Follett M. 1940. Constructive conflict. In Dynamic Administration, ed. H Metcalf, L Urwick, pp. 30–49. New York: Harper & Row
- Forgas JP. 1994. Sad and guilty? Affective influences on the explanation of conflict in close relationships. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 66:56–68
- Forgas JP. 1998. On feeling good and getting your way: mood effects on negotiator cognition and bargaining strategies. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 74:565–77
- Foster DA. 1992. *Bargaining Across Borders*. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Friedland N. 1990. Attribution of control as a determinant of cooperation in exchange interactions. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 20:303– 20
- Froman LA, Cohen MD. 1970. Compromise and logroll: comparing the efficiency of two bargaining processes. *Behav. Sci.* 30:180–83
- Fry WR. 1985. The effect of dyad machiavellianism and visual access on integrative

- bargaining outcomes. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 11:51–62
- Fukuno M, Ohbuchi K. 1997. Cognitive biases in negotiation: the determinants of fixed-pie assumption and fairness bias. *Jpn. J. Soc. Psychol.* 13:43–52
- Fulk J, Schmitz J, Steinfield CW. 1990. A social influence model of technology use.
 In *Organizations and Communication Technology*, ed. J Fulk, CW Steinfield, pp. 117–40. Newbury Park, CA: Sage
- Gabriel MT, Critelli JW, Ee JS. 1994. Narcissistic illusions in self-evaluations of intelligence and attractiveness. *J. Pers.* 62:143–55
- Gamson WA. 1961. A theory of coalition formation. Am. Sociol. Rev. 26:373–82
- Gentner D, Markman AB. 1997. Structure mapping in analogy and similarity. Am. Psychol. 52:45–56
- Gentner D, Rattermann MJ, Forbus KD. 1993. The roles of similarity in transfer: separating retrievability from inferential soundness. Cogn. Psychol. 25:524–75
- Gentner D, Stevens AL, eds. 1983. *Mental Models*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Gilbert D. 1994. Attribution and interpersonal perception. In Advanced Social Psychology, ed. A Tesser, pp. 99–147. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Greenhalgh L, Chapman DI. 1995. Joint decision making: the inseparability of relationships and negotiation. See Kramer & Messick 1995, pp. 166–85
- Greenhalgh L, Chapman DI. 1997. Relationships between disputants: an analysis of their characteristics and impact. In *Frontiers in Dispute Resolution and Human Resources*, ed. SE Gleason, pp. 203–29. East Lansing: Mich. State Univ.
- Greenhalgh L, Chapman DI. 1998. Negotiator relationships: construct measurement, and demonstration of their impact on the process and outcomes of business transactions. *Group Decis. Negot.* 7:465–89
- Greenhalgh L, Okun RL. 1998. Negotiation and conflict resolution. In *Encyclopedia of*

- *Mental Health*, ed. HS Friedman, 1:759–74. San Diego: Academic
- Griffin DW, Dunning D, Ross L. 1990. The role of construal processes in overconfident predictions about the self and others. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 59:1128–39
- Griffith TL, Northcraft GB. 1994. Distinguishing between the forest and the trees: media, features, and methodology in electronic communication research. *Organ. Sci.* 5:272–85
- Gudykunst WB, Ting-Toomey S. 1988. Culture and affective communication. Am. Behav. Sci. 31:384–400
- Hall ET. 1976. *Beyond Culture*. Garden City, NY: Anchor
- Hall ET. 1983. The Dance of Life: The Other Dimension of Time. Garden City, NY: Anchor/Doubleday
- Halpern JJ. 1997. Elements of a script for friendship in transactions. J. Confl. Resolut. 41:835–68
- Hofstede G. 1980. Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage
- Hofstede G. 1983. Cultural relativity of organizational theories. *J. Int. Bus. Stud.* 14.2:75–90
- Huber VL, Neale MA. 1987. Effects of self and competitor's goals on performance in an interdependent bargaining task. J. Appl. Psychol. 72:197–203
- James K. 1993. The social context of organizational justice: cultural, intergroup, and structural effects on justice behaviors and perceptions. In *Justice in the Workplace*, ed. R Cropanzano, pp. 21–50. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Janis IL. 1982. Groupthink: Psychological Studies of Policy Decisions and Fiascoes. Boston: Houghton Mifflin
- Johnson TE, Rule BG. 1986. Mitigating circumstance information, censure, and aggression. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 50:537–42
- Jones EE. 1986. Interpreting personal behavior: the effects of expectancies. *Science* 234:41–46

- Kahneman D. 1992. Reference points, anchors, norms, and mixed feelings. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 51:269–312
- Kahneman D, Tversky A. 1973. On the psychology of prediction. *Psychol. Rev.* 80:237–51
- Kahneman D, Tversky A. 1979. Prospect theory: an analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica* 47:263–91
- Kahneman D, Tversky A. 1982. The simulation heuristic. In *Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases*, ed. D
 Kahneman, P Slovic, A Tversky, pp. 201–8. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Kelley HH, Thibaut JW. 1978. *Interpersonal Relations: A Theory of Interdependence*. New York: Wiley
- Keltner D, Kring AM. 1999. Emotion, social function, and psychopathology. Rev. Gen. Psychol. In press
- Keltner D, Robinson RJ. 1993. Imagined ideological differences in conflict escalation and resolution. *Int. J. Confl. Manage*. 4:249–62
- Keltner D, Robinson RJ. 1996. Extremism, power, and the imagined basis of social conflict. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 5:101–5
- Kette G. 1986. Attributions restore consistency in bargaining with liked/disliked partners. Eur. J. Soc. Psychol. 16:257–77
- Kiesler S, Sproull L. 1992. Group decision making and communication technology. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 52:96– 123
- Kim PH. 1997. Strategic timing in group negotiations: the implications of forced entry and forced exit for negotiators with unequal power. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 71:263–86
- Kramer RM. 1991. The more the merrier? Social psychological aspects of multiparty negotiations in organizations. See Bies et al 1991, 3:307–32
- Kramer RM. 1994. The sinister attribution error: paranoid cognition and collective distrust in organizations. *Motiv. Emot.* 18:199– 230

- Kramer RM, Messick DM, eds. 1995. Negotiation as a Social Process. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Kramer RM, Newton E, Pommerenke PL. 1993. Self-enhancement biases and negotiator judgment: effects of self-esteem and mood. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 56:110–33
- Kristensen H, Garling T. 1997. The effects of anchor points and reference points on negotiation process and outcome. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 72:256–79
- Kronzon S, Darley J. 1999. Is this tactic ethical? Biased judgments of ethics in negotiation. Basic Appl. Soc. Psychol. In press
- Larrick RP, Blount S. 1997. The claiming effect: why players are more generous in social dilemmas than in ultimatum games. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 72:810–25
- Leung K. 1998. Negotiation and reward allocations across cultures. In New Perspectives on International Industrial/Organizational Psychology, ed. PC Early, M Erez. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Lewicki RJ, Sheppard B, Bies RJ, eds. 1999.
 Research on Negotiation in Organizations,
 Vol. 7. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Lewicki RJ, Litterer JA. 1985. *Negotiation*. Homewood, IL: Irwin
- Lewicki RJ, Litterer JA, Saunders DM, Minton JW. 1993. Negotiation: Readings, Exercises, and Cases. Burr Ridge, IL: Irwin. 2nd ed.
- Lewicki RJ, Stark N. 1996. What is ethically appropriate in negotiations: an empirical examination of bargaining tactics. *Soc. Justice Res.* 9:69–95
- Lewis SA, Fry WR. 1977. Effects of visual access and orientation on the discovery of integrative bargaining alternatives. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 20:75–92
- Lim RG. 1997. Overconfidence in negotiation revisited. *Int. J. Confl. Manage.* 8:52–79
- Lim RG, Carnevale PJ. 1995. Influencing mediator behavior through bargainer framing. *Int. J. Confl. Manage*. 6:349–68
- Loewenstein G, Issacharoff S, Camerer C. 1993. Self-serving assessments of fairness

- and pretrial bargaining. *J. Legal Stud.* 22:135–59
- Loewenstein G, Thompson L, Bazerman MH. 1989. Social utility and decision making in interpersonal contexts. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 57:426–41
- Loewenstein J, Thompson L, Gentner D. 1999.
 Analogical encoding facilitates knowledge transfer in negotiation. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.*In press
- Lord RG, Smith JE. 1983. Theoretical, information processing, and situational factors affecting attribution theory models of organizational behavior. *Acad. Manage. Rev.* 8:50–60
- Luce RD, Raiffa H. 1957. Games and Decisions: Introduction and Critical Survey. New York: Wiley
- Mannix E, Neale MA, Northcraft GB. 1995. Equity, equality, or need? The effects of organizational culture on the allocation of benefits and burdens. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 63:276–86
- Mannix EA. 1991. Resource dilemmas and discount rates in decision making groups. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 27:379–91
- Mannix EA. 1993a. The influence of power, distribution norms and task meeting structure on resource allocation in small group negotiation. *Int. J. Confl. Manage.* 4:5–23
- Mannix EA. 1993b. Organizations as resource dilemmas: the effects of power balance on coalition formation in small groups. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 55:1–22
- Mannix EA. 1994. Will we meet again? Effects of power, distribution norms, and scope of future interaction in small group negotiation. *Int. J. Confl. Manage*. 5:343–68
- Mannix EA, Blount White S. 1992. The impact of distributive uncertainty on coalition formation in organizations. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 51:198–219
- Mannix EA, Thompson LL, Bazerman MH. 1989. Negotiation in small groups. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 74:508–17
- March JG, Simon HA. 1958. *Organizations*. New York: Wiley

- Markus HR, Kitayama S. 1991. Culture and the self: implications for cognitions, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol. Rev.* 98:224–53
- Markus HR, Lin LR. 1998. Conflictways: cultural diversity in the meanings and practices of conflict. In *Cultural Divides*, ed. D Miller, D Prentice. New York: Sage
- Marwell G, Ratcliff K, Schmitt DR. 1969.
 Minimizing differences in a maximizing difference game. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 12:158–63
- Marwell G, Schmitt DR. 1972. Cooperation in a three-person prisoner's dilemma. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 21:376–83
- Mather L, Yngvesson B. 1981. Language, audience and the transformation of disputes. Law Soc. Rev. 15:775–822
- Mellers BA, Baron J, eds. 1993. *Psychological Perspectives on Justice: Theory and Applications*. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Merry SE, Silbey S. 1984. What do plaintiffs want? Reexamining the concept of dispute. *Justice Syst. J.* 9:151–77
- Messick DM. 1993. Equality as a decision heuristic. See Mellers & Baron 1993, pp. 11–31
- Messick DM. 1995. Equality, fairness, and social conflict. Soc. Justice Res. 8:153–73
- Messick DM. 1999. Alternative logics for decision making in social settings. *J. Econ. Behav. Organ.* 39:11–28
- Messick DM, Bloom S, Boldizar JP, Samuelson CD. 1985. Why we are fairer than others. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 21:480–500
- Messick DM, Sentis KP. 1979. Fairness and preference. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 15:418– 34
- Messick DM, Sentis KP. 1983. Fairness, preference, and fairness biases. In *Equity Theory: Psychological and Sociological Perspectives*, ed. DM Messick, KS Cook, pp. 61–94. New York: Praeger
- Miller DT, Ross M. 1975. Self-serving biases in the attribution of causality: fact or fiction? *Psychol. Bull.* 82:213–25
- Montgomery JD. 1998. Toward a role-theoretic conception of embeddedness. *Am. J. Sociol.* 104:92–125

- Moore DA, Kurtzberg TR, Thompson LL, Morris MW. 1999. The long and short routes to success in electronically-mediated negotiations: group affiliations and good vibrations. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 77:22–43
- Morely IE. 1982. Preparation for negotiation: conflict, commitment, and choice. In *Group Decision Making*, ed. H Brandstatter, JH Davis, G Stocker-Kreichgaure. New York: Academic
- Morris MW, Larrick RP, Su SK. 1999. Misperceiving negotiation counterparts: when situationally determined bargaining behaviors are attributed to personality traits. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 77(1):52–67
- Morris MW, Leung K, Sethi S. 1995. Person perception in the heat of conflict: perceptions of opponents' traits and conflict resolution choices in two cultures. Presented at Annu. Meet. Acad. Manage., Vancouver, Can.
- Morris MW, Peng K. 1994. Culture and cause: American and Chinese attributions for social and physical events. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 67:949–71
- Morris MW, Sim DLH, Girotto V. 1998. Distinguishing sources of cooperation in the one-round prisoner's dilemma: evidence for cooperative decisions based on the illusion of control. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 34:494–512
- Morrison T, Conaway WA, Borden GA. 1994. Kiss, Bow, or Shake Hands: How to Do Business in Sixty Countries. Holbrook, MA: Adams Media Corp.
- Murnighan JK. 1994. Game theory and organizational behavior. In *Research in Organizational Behavior*, ed. BM Staw, LL Cummings, 16:83–123. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Murnighan JK, Brass DJ. 1991. Intraorganizational coalitions. See Bies et al 1991, 3:283–306
- Neale MA. 1984. The effects of negotiation and arbitration cost salience on bargainer behavior: the role of the arbitrator and con-

- stituency on negotiator judgment. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 34:97–111
- Neale MA, Bazerman MH. 1991. Cognition and Rationality in Negotiation. New York: Free Press
- Neuberg SL. 1988. Behavioral implications of information presented outside of conscious awareness: the effect of subliminal presentation of trait information on behavior in the Prisoner's Dilemma Game. Soc. Cogn. 6:207–30
- Northcraft GB, Neale MA. 1987. Expert, amateurs, and real estate: an anchoring-and-adjustment perspective on property pricing decisions. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 39:228–41
- O'Connor KM, Carnevale PJ. 1997. A nasty but effective negotiation strategy: misrepresentation of a common-value issue. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 23:504–15
- O'Connor KM, De Dreu CK, Schroth H, Barry B, Lituchy T, et al. 1998. What we want to do versus what we think that we should do: an empirical investigation of intrapersonal conflict. Presented at Annu. Meet. Acad. Manage., San Diego, CA
- Olekalns M. 1997. Situational cues as moderators of the frame-outcome relationship. *Br. J. Soc. Psychol.* 36:191–209
- Palmer LG, Thompson L. 1995. Negotiation in triads: communication constraints and tradeoff structure. J. Exp. Psychol. Appl. 1:83–94
- Pillutla MM, Murnighan JK. 1996. Unfairness, anger, and spite: emotional rejections of ultimatum offers. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 68:208–24
- Pinker S. 1997. *How the Mind Works*. New York: Harper Collins
- Pinkley RL. 1990. Dimensions of conflict frame: disputant interpretations of conflict. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 75:117–26
- Pinkley RL, Griffith TL, Northcraft GB. 1995. Fixed pie a la mode: information availability, information processing, and the negotiation of suboptimal agreements. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 62:101–12

- Pinkley RL, Northcraft GB. 1994. Conflict frames of reference: implications for dispute processes and outcomes. Acad. Manage. J. 37:193–205
- Polzer JT. 1996. Intergroup negotiations: the effects of negotiating teams. J. Confl. Resolut. 40:678–98
- Polzer JT, Mannix EA, Neale MA. 1995. Multiparty negotiation in its social context. See Kramer & Messick 1995, pp. 123–42
- Polzer JT, Mannix EA, Neale MA. 1998. Interest alignment and coalitions in multiparty negotiation. *Acad. Manage. J.* 41:42–54
- Pruitt DG, Carnevale PJ. 1993. Negotiation in Social Conflict. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole
- Pruitt DG, Drews JL. 1969. The effect of time pressure, time elapsed, and the opponent's concession rate on behavior in negotiation. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 5:43–69
- Pruitt DG, Johnson DF. 1972. Mediation as an aid to face saving in negotiation. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 14:239–46
- Putnam L, Holmer M. 1992. Framing, reframing, and issue development. In *Communication and Negotiation*, ed. L Putnam, M Roloff, pp. 128–55. Newbury Park, CA: Sage
- Putnam LL, Poole MS. 1987. Conflict and negotiation. In *Handbook of Organizational Communication*, ed. F Jablin, L Putnam, K Roberts, L Porter, pp. 549–99. Newbury Park, CA: Sage
- Raiffa H. 1982. *The Art and Science of Negotiation*. Cambridge, MA: Belknap
- Ritov I. 1996. Anchoring in simulated competitive market negotiation. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process, 67:16–25
- Robinson RJ, Keltner D. 1996. Much ado about nothing? Revisionists and traditionalists choose an introductory English syllabus. *Psychol. Sci.* 7:18–24
- Robinson RJ, Keltner D. 1997. Defending the status quo: power and bias in social conflict. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 23:1066–77
- Robinson RJ, Keltner D, Ward A, Ross L. 1995. Actual versus assumed differences in construal: 'naïve realism' in intergroup per-

- ception and conflict. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 68:404–17
- Robinson RJ, Lewicki RJ, Donohue EM. 1997. A five factor model of unethical bargaining tactics: the SINS scale. In *Aust. Ind. Organ. Psychol. Best Pap. Proc. Australian Industrial and Organizational Society:* Melbourne, Australia, pp. 131–37.
- Rosenthal R. 1974. On the Social Psychology of the Self-Fulfilling Prophecy: Further Evidence for Pygmalion Effects and Their Mediating Mechanisms. New York: MSS Inf. Corp. Modular Publ.
- Ross L, Nisbett RE. 1991. The Person and the Situation: Perspectives of Social Psychology. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Ross L, Stillinger C. 1991. Barriers to conflict resolution. *Negot. J.* 7:389–404
- Ross L, Ward A. 1995. Psychological barriers to dispute resolution. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 27:255–303
- Roth AE. 1995. Bargaining experiments. In The Handbook of Experimental Economics, ed. JH Kagel, AE Roth, pp. 253–348. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Rouse WB, Morris NM. 1986. On looking into the black box: prospects and limits in the search for mental models. *Psychol. Bull*. 100:349–63
- Rubin JZ, Brown BR. 1975. The Social Psychology of Bargaining and Negotiation. New York: Academic
- Rusbult CE, Van Lange PAM. 1996. Interdependence processes. In Social Psychology: Handbook of Basic Principles, ed. ET Higgins, AW Kruglanski, pp. 564–96. New York: Guilford
- Rutter ER, Robinson B. 1981. An experimental analysis of teaching by telephone: theretical and practical implications for social psychology. In *Progress in Applied Social Psychology*, ed. GM Stephenson, JH Davis, pp. 345–74. New York: Wiley
- Sally DF. 1995. Conversation and cooperation in social dilemmas: experimental evidence from 1958 to 1992. *Ration. Soc.* 7:58–92
- Samuelson WF, Bazerman MH. 1985. Negotiation under the winner's curse. In

- Research in Experimental Economics, ed. V Smith, 3:105–38. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Schweitzer ME. 1997. Omission, friendship, and fraud: lies about material facts in negotiation. Presented at Annu. Meet. Acad. Manage., Boston, MA
- Selye H. 1976. *The Stress of Life*. New York: McGraw-Hill. Rev. ed.
- Shafir E, Tversky A. 1992. Thinking through uncertainty: nonconsequential reasoning and choice. Cogn. Psychol. 24:449–74
- Shah PP, Jehn KA. 1993. Do friends perform better than acquaintances? The interaction of friendship, conflict, and task. *Group Decis. Negot.* 2:149–65
- Shapiro DL. 1991. The effects of explanation on negative reactions to deceit. *Adm. Sci. Q.* 36:614–30
- Shapiro DL, von Glinow MA. 1999. Negotiation in multicultural teams: new world, old theories? See Lewicki et al 1999
- Siegel J, Dubrovsky V, Kiesler S, McGuire TW. 1986. Group processes in computermediated communication. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 37:157–87
- Simon HA. 1957. *Models of Man*. New York: Wiley
- Smith DH. 1969. Communication and negotiation outcome. *J. Commun.* 19:248–56
- Snyder M. 1992. Motivational foundations of behavioral confirmation. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 25:67–114
- Sondak H, Bazerman MH. 1989. Matching and negotiation processes in quasi-markets. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 44:261–80
- Sproull L, Kiesler SB. 1991. Connections: New Ways of Working in the Networked Organization. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Starr J, Yngvesson B. 1975. Scarcity and disputing: zeroing-in on compromise decisions. Am. Ethnol. 2:553–66
- Strudler A. 1995. On the ethics of deception in negotiation. *Bus. Ethics Q.* 5:805–22
- Svenson O. 1981. Are we less risky and more skillful than our fellow drivers? *Acta Psychol.* 47:143–51

- Taylor SE. 1989. *Positive Illusions*. New York: Basic Books
- Taylor SE, Brown JD. 1988. Illusion and wellbeing: a social psychological perspective on mental health. *Psychol. Bull.* 103:193–210
- Tenbrunsel AE. 1998. Misrepresentation and expectations of misrepresentation in an ethical dilemma: the role of incentives and temptation. *Acad. Manage. J.* 41:330–39
- Tenbrunsel AE. 1999. Trust as an obstacle in the economics-environment debates. *Am. Behav. Sci.* 42(8):1350–67
- Tenbrunsel AE, Wade-Benzoni KA, Moag J, Bazerman MH. 1996. When is a friend not a friend? A look at relationships and partner selection in negotiations. Presented at Wharton Organ. Behav. Conf., Philadelphia
- Tetlock PE, Peterson RS, Lerner JS. 1996. Revising the value pluralism model: incorporating social content and context postulates. In *Values: 8th Annu. Ontario Symp. Pers. Soc. Psychol.*, ed. C Seligman, J Olson, M Zanna, pp. 25–51. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Thompson L. 1990. Negotiation behavior and outcomes: empirical evidence and theoretical issues. *Psychol. Bull.* 108:515–32
- Thompson L. 1995. The impact of minimum goals and aspirations on judgments of success in negotiations. *Group Decis. Negot.* 4:513–24
- Thompson L. 1998. *The Mind and Heart of the Negotiator*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall
- Thompson L, DeHarpport T. 1994. Social judgment, feedback, and interpersonal learning in negotiation. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 58:327–45
- Thompson L, Hastie R. 1990. Social perception in negotiation. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 47:98–123
- Thompson L, Hrebec D. 1996. Lose-lose agreements in interdependent decision making. *Psychol. Bull.* 120:396–409
- Thompson L, Loewenstein G. 1992. Egocentric interpretations of fairness and interpersonal conflict. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 51:176–97

- Thompson L, Mannix EA, Bazerman MH. 1988. Group negotiation: effects of decision rule, agenda, and aspiration. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 54:86–95
- Thompson L, Nadler J, Kim PH. 1999. Some like it hot: the case for the emotional negotiator. In *Shared Cognition in Organizaitons: The Management of Knowledge*, ed. L Thompson, D Messick, J Levine, pp. 139–61. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Thompson L, Peterson E, Brodt SE. 1996. Team negotiation: an examination of integrative and distributive bargaining. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 70:66–78
- Thompson LL, Gonzalez R. 1997. Environmental disputes: competition for scarce resources and clashing of values. In *Environment*, *Ethics*, *and Behavior*, ed. MH Bazerman, DM Messick, AE Tenbrunsel, KA Wade-Benzoni, pp. 75–104. San Francisco: New Lexington
- Tinsley C. 1998. Models of conflict resolution in Japanese, German, and American cultures. J. Appl. Psychol. 83:316–23
- Tinsley C, Brett JM. 1997. Managing workplace conflict: a comparison of conflict frames and outcomes in the U.S. and Hong Kong. Presented at Annu. Meet. Acad. Manage., Boston
- Tinsley C, Curhan J, Kwak RS. 1999. Adopting a dual lens approach for overcoming the dilemma of difference in international business negotiations. *Int. Negot.* 4:1–18
- Todd HF. 1978. Litigious marginals: character and disputing in a Bavarian village. In *The Disputing Process*, ed. L Nader, HF Todd, pp. 86–121. New York: Columbia Univ. Press
- Triandis HC. 1990. Cross-cultural studies of individualsim and collectivism. Nebr. Symp. Motiv. 1989, 37:41–133
- Triandis HC. 1995. *Individualism and Collectivism*. Boulder, CO: Westview
- Tversky A, Kahneman D. 1974. Judgment under uncertainty: heuristics and biases. *Science* 185:1124–31
- Valley KL. 1992. Relationships and resources: a network exploration of allocation deci-

- *sion.* PhD thesis. Northwestern Univ., Evanston, Ill. 115 pp.
- Valley KL, Moag J, Bazerman MH. 1998. A matter of trust: effects of communication on the efficiency and distribution of outcomes. *J. Econ. Behav. Organ.* 34:211–38
- Valley KL, Neale MA, Mannix EA. 1995. Friends, lovers, colleagues, strangers: the effects of relationships on the process and outcome of dyadic negotiations. In *Research on Negotiation in Organizations*, ed. RJ Bies, RJ Lewicki, BH Sheppard, 5:65–93. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Wade-Benzoni KA, Tenbrunsel AE, Bazerman MH. 1996. Egocentric interpretations of fairness in asymmetric, environmental social dilemmas: explaining harvesting behavior and the role of communciation. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 67:111–26
- Walster E, Walster GW, Berscheid E. 1978. Equity: Theory and Research. Boston: Allyn & Bacon
- Walton RE, McKersie RB. 1965. A Behavioral Theory of Labor Negotiations. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Weber EU, Hsee CK. 1999. Cross-cultural differences in risk perception, but crosscultural similarities in attitudes towards perceived risk. *Manage. Sci.* In press
- Wegner DM, Erber R, Raymond P. 1991. Transactive memory in close relationships. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 61:923–29
- Weingart LR, Bennett RJ, Brett JM. 1993. The impact of consideration of issues and motivational orientation on group negotiation

- process and outcome. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 78:504–17
- Weiss SE. 1994. Negotiating with "Romans"—Part 1. *Sloan Manage. Rev.* 35:51–61
- Weiss SE. 1996. International negotiations: bricks, mortar, and prospects. In *Handbook* for International Management Research, ed. BJ Punnett, O Shenkar. Cambridge, MA: Blackwell
- Weldon E, Jehn KA. 1995. Examining crosscultural differences in conflict management behavior: a strategy for future research. *Int. J. Confl. Manage*. 6:387–403
- Whyte G, Sebenius JK. 1997. The effect of multiple anchors on anchoring in individual and group judgment. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 69:75–85
- Wichman H. 1970. Effects of isolation and communication on cooperation in a twoperson game. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 16:114– 20
- Williams E. 1977. Experimental comparisons of face-to-face and mediated communication: a review. *Psychol. Bull.* 84:963–76
- Wokutch RE, Carson TL. 1993. The ethics and profitability of bluffing in business. See Lewicki et al 1993, pp. 499–504
- Zajonc RB. 1965. Social facilitation. *Science* 149:269–74
- Zimbardo PG. 1969. The human choice: individuation, reason, and order versus deindividuation, impulse, and chaos. In *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, ed. WJ Arnold, D Levine, pp. 237–307. Lincoln, NE: Univ. Nebr. Press

CONTENTS

Parenting and its Effects on Children: On Reading and Misreading	
Behavior Genetics, Eleanor E. Maccoby	1
The Pain of Being Sick: Implications of Immune-to-Brain Communication	
for Understanding Pain, L. R. Watkins, S. F. Maier	29
Thought Suppression, Richard M. Wenzlaff, Daniel M. Wegner	59
Social Cognition: Thinking Categorically about Others, C. Neil Macrae,	
Galen V. Bodenhausen	93
Are There Kinds of Concepts?, Douglas L. Medin, Elizabeth B. Lynch,	
Karen O. Solomon	121
New Perspectives and Evidence on Political Communication and	
Campaign Effects, Shanto Iyengar, Adam F. Simon	149
Goal Theory, Motivation, and School Achievement: An Integrative	
Review, Martin V. Covington	171
Applications of Structural Equation Modeling in Psychological Research,	
Robert C. MacCallum, James T. Austin	201
The Environmental Psychology of Capsule Habitats, <i>Peter Suedfeld</i> , <i>G</i> .	
Daniel Steel	227
Food Intake and the Regulation of Body Weight, Stephen C. Woods,	
Michael W. Schwartz, Denis G. Baskin, Randy J. Seeley	255
Negotiation, Max H. Bazerman, Jared R. Curhan, Don A. Moore,	
Kathleen L. Valley	279
Parental and Child Cognitions in the Context of the Family, <i>Daphne Blunt</i>	
Bugental, Charlotte Johnston	315
Evaluation Methods for Social Intervention, Mark W. Lipsey, David S.	
Cordray	345
Adult Psychopathology: Issues and Controversies, T. A. Widiger, L. M.	
Sankis	377
Scientific and Social Significance of Assessing Individual Differences:	
""Sinking Shafts at a Few Critical Points, David Lubinski	
•	405
The Effects of Family and Community Violence on Children, Gayla	
Margolin, Elana B. Gordis	445
Toward a Psychology of Memory Accuracy, Asher Koriat, Morris	
Goldsmith, Ainat Pansky	481
Attitude Change: Persuasion and Social Influence, Wendy Wood	539
Cultural Psychopathology: Uncovering the Social World of Mental	
Illness, Steven Regeser López, Peter J. Guarnaccia	571
Memory Systems in the Brain, Edmund T. Rolls	599
Personnel Selection: Looking Toward the FutureRemembering the Past,	
Leaetta M. Hough, Frederick L. Oswald	631
Emotion, Regulation, and Moral Development, <i>Nancy Eisenberg</i>	665
Neural Basis of Hearing in Real-World Situations, Albert S. Feng, Rama	-0-
Ratnam	699